FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 12/2/2020 4:12 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/3/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99280-1

COA No. 37054-2-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

LINCOLN COUNTY, Appellant/Cross-Respondent

٧.

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION of the State of Washington; OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL Respondents

and

TEAMSTERS LOCAL 690 Respondent/Cross-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

The Honorable Judges Lawrence-Berry (opinion), Korsmo (concurring opinion) and Siddoway

TEAMSTERS LOCAL 690'S PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DECISION TERMINATING REVIEW OF ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION

I.	THIS IS A CASE OF FIRST IMPRESSION WHICH RAISES ISSUES CRITICAL TO THE HEALTH AND SUCCESS OF PUBLIC SECTOR COLLECTIVE BARGAINING
	A. This Case Presents Issues of "Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court"14

	В.	The Court of Appeals's Decision Leaves Hundre Negotiating Parties Throughout the State in Lega			
II.	THE PERC AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS				
	CO	ONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THE SUPRE	ME		
	CO	OURT	16		
III.	THE COURT OF APPEALS'S DECISION IS INTERNALLY				
	CO	NTRADICTORY	18		
CON	CLU	SION	20		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Klauder v. San Juan County Deputy Sheriffs Guild, 107 Wn.2d. 338, 341 (1986)
Lincoln County, Decision 12844 (PECB 2018)11
Lincoln County, Decision 12844-A (PECB 2018)
Lincoln County v. Public Employment Relations Commission; Office of the Attorney General; and Teamsters Local 690, Division III, Nov. 3, 2020, 2020 Wash. App. LEXIS 2852
Pasco Police Association v. City of Pasco, 132 Wn.2d. 450, 460 (1997)17
Service Employees International Union 925 v. Freedom Foundation, 197 Wash. App. 203, 209 (2016)15

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Teamsters Local 690: Respondent and Cross-Appellant in the Court of Appeals and Respondent and Complainant in the PERC proceedings reviewed by the Court of Appeals.

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Lincoln County v. Public Employment Relations Commission; Office of the Attorney General; and Teamsters Local 690, Division III, Nov. 3, 2020, 2020 Wash. App. LEXIS 2852. There were no motions for reconsideration. The decision affirmed in part and reversed and remanded in part Public Employment Relations Commission, Decision 12844-A.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where collective bargaining parties cannot agree whether negotiations should occur in private or public, whose position should prevail?
 - a) What role should past practice play in determining who prevails?
 - b) What other factors, if any, are to be considered in determining who prevails?
- 2. Did Division III of the Court of Appeals err when it overturned the Public Employment Relations Commission's order that, absent contrary agreement between the bargaining parties, collective bargaining

should take place in compliance with the parties' long and successful practice of bargaining in private?

- 3. Did Division III of the Court of Appeals err when it affirmed PERC's holding that Teamsters Local 690 breached its duty to bargain, thereby committing an unfair labor practice?
- 4. Do PERC's decision and order (affirmed by the Court of Appeals), which purport to enforce a legal duty to bargain permissive subjects of bargaining, erroneously interpret and apply the law, in that they disregard uniform and longstanding Washington Supreme Court and PERC precedent holding that bargaining parties have no such duty?
- 5. Did PERC (as affirmed by the Court of Appeals) erroneously interpret and apply the law and act arbitrarily and capriciously when it concluded that Local 690 committed an unfair labor practice when it insisted upon the same result that PERC ultimately ordered: i.e., that, absent agreement to the contrary, negotiations be conducted in private?
- 6. Did PERC and the Court of Appeals err when they held that the Open Public Meetings Act does not preempt a Lincoln County resolution requiring that collective bargaining be conducted in compliance with the OPMA, when the OPMA explicitly exempts collective bargaining from coverage?
 - 7. Where unrebutted documentary and other evidence establishes

that the County's public-bargaining resolution was written, marketed to the County and defended by the Freedom Foundation at its sole expense, did PERC err when it failed to consider (as affirmed by the Court of

Appeals), as part of its determination of good faith, evidence offered by

the Union establishing that the Foundation exists to destroy labor unions

and burden public sector collective bargaining?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Summary of Procedural History

Following an evidentiary hearing and briefing, PERC Hearing

Examiner Jamie Siegel held that both parties had breached their duties to

bargain. Both parties appealed to the Public Employment Relations

Commission (PERC), which affirmed those holdings, but significantly

revised the remedy, in a decision dated August 29, 2018. Lincoln County

("the County" or "the Employer") filed a petition for review in Lincoln

County Superior Court, while Teamsters Local 690 ("the Union" or

"Local 690") filed its petition in Thurston County. After much procedural

wrangling, both petitions were adjudicated in Whitman County Superior

Court, which affirmed PERC in all respects.

The County appealed to Division III and the Union cross-appealed.

Division III issued its decision on November 3, 2020 affirming PERC's

holding that both parties had breached their duties to bargain, but

LOCAL 690's PETITION FOR REVIEW

COA No. 37054-2-III

3

overturning the remedy ordered by PERC and remanding to PERC to "reconsider the appropriate remedy:" *See*, Court of Appeals, Decision, p. 18, App. 18.

The Union and the Collective Bargaining Agreements

Teamsters Local 690 is the exclusive bargaining representative for two bargaining units of commissioned and non-commissioned employees of the Lincoln County sheriff's office. There are approximately twelve sheriff's deputies in the commissioned bargaining unit and approximately eight corrections and communications employees in the non-commissioned unit.

Prior to Teamsters Local 690 becoming the exclusive bargaining representative for the units, they were represented by the Lincoln County Deputy Sheriffs' Guild ("the Guild").³ Historically, contract negotiations between the County and the Guild were always conducted in a private setting.⁴

On January 7, 2014, Local 690 succeeded the Guild as the certified bargaining representative for the commissioned bargaining unit, following

¹ Employer Exhibit ("EX")-1 (Commissioned CBA, '14-'16); EX-2 (Non-Commissioned CBA, '14-'16). PERC Administrative Record ("AR") 529, 545.

² TR. 158: 14-17 (Note: Citations to the transcript will designate page and lines in the following form: Tr. [page number]:[line number]-[line number].). AR 818.

³ EX-1AR 529; Union Exhibit ("UX")-3 AR 458; UX-4 AR 463; Tr. 79: 21-25; Tr. 80: 1-10 AR 739, 740.

⁴ Tr. 78: 2-4 (County Commissioner and Lead Negotiator Robert Coffman) AR 738; Tr. 241: 3-7 (Bargaining Unit Dispatcher and Guild and Teamster Negotiator Brad Sweet) AR 901.

a PERC-supervised election.⁵ On November 19, 2015, Local 690 similarly became the bargaining representative for the non-commissioned bargaining unit.⁶

Following the transitions from the Guild to Local 690, the County worked cooperatively with the Union to amend the Guild's labor agreements to reflect Local 690's successorship. Accordingly, on July 22, 2014, the County and Local 690 executed a labor agreement for the commissioned bargaining unit, and, on July 5, 2016, another one for the non-commissioned unit, both in effect from January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2016. The renegotiation process for the new labor agreements was private.

The Freedom Foundation successfully markets its agenda to the County.

On August 12, 2016, Matthew Heyward of the so-called "Freedom Foundation" emailed Lincoln County Commissioner Rob Coffman a document the Foundation had written, titled "Collective Bargaining"

⁵ EX-1 AR 529; UX-3 (PERC Certification, 1/7/14) AR 458; Tr. 156; 11-16 (The Commissioned bargaining unit is eligible for interest arbitration under RCW 41.56.430—490) AR 816.

⁶ Tr. 79: 21-25 AR 739; 80: 1-10 AR 740; UX-4 (PERC Order of Affiliation, 11/19/15) AR463.

⁷ Tr. 80: 6-15 (Coffman) AR740; Tr. 154:9-12 (Teamster Rep and Lead Negotiator Joe Kuhn) AR 814.

⁸ Tr. 157: 1-25 (Kuhn) AR 817; Tr. 158:1-3 AR 818; EX-1 AR 529.

⁹ Tr. 158: 4-11 (Kuhn) AR 818; EX-2 AR 545.

¹⁰ Tr. 80: 1-25 (Coffman) AR740; Tr. 157: 11-25 AR 817; Tr. 158; 1-17 (Kuhn) AR 818.

Transparency Model Resolution."¹¹ On its face, the document appears to be a generic form for use by any Washington municipality, with non-specific statements of policy interspersed with blank fields, designated "city/county," for the municipality to fill in. Using this generic form as a template to draft what became Resolution 16-22, Lincoln County Commissioner and lead contract negotiator Rob Coffman did insert "Lincoln County" into the fields, but a comparison of the Foundation's Model (UX-19) with the County Resolution as passed (EX-3) discloses that he made no substantive changes. ¹² Coffman would later testify that although he knew there would be "pushback" from Local 690 regarding the effect of Resolution 16-22, he nevertheless did not contact Union representative Joe Kuhn (or Local 690) to notify him of the County's desire to conduct collective bargaining in public, nor of its intent to pass a Resolution as the means to accomplish this. ¹³

On September 6, 2016, the Lincoln County Commissioners passed Resolution 16-22, requiring that all collective bargaining negotiations be conducted "in a manner that is open to the public" and in accordance with

11

¹¹ UX-19 AR 515; Tr. 82: 9-10 (Coffman: "The resolution was originally drafted by the Freedom Foundation...") AR 742.

The only evident change was to eliminate a paragraph from the Foundation's form, at page 2, that permitted bargaining representatives to "meet [] separately and privately to discuss negotiating tactics, goals, and methods."

¹³ Tr. 91:21 (Coffman expected "pushback") AR 751; Tr. 89: 1-17 (Coffman: never notified the Union) AR 819.

the notice requirements of the Open Public Meetings Act (RCW 42.30.060—42.30.080).¹⁴ Although Coffman ensured that copies went to all County Department Heads and Heyward (along with a cover note thanking the Foundation "for all [its] help"), he again did not inform Kuhn.¹⁵

As bargaining commences, the Union expressly reserves its position.

As the parties worked to schedule negotiations for January 17, 2017, Kuhn reserved in writing the Union's position that the County could not unilaterally require that negotiations be public, saying in an email to the County, "[i]f this is going to be a public meeting we will meet however we are not giving up our position regarding the resolution that was passed and the subsequent ULP charge that was filed." ¹⁶

On January 17, 2017, Local 690 and the County met in the Commissioners' room of the County Courthouse for their scheduled bargaining session. The bargaining session was an agenda item of a regularly-scheduled Commissioners meeting and was open to the public. The County's bargaining team consisted of Commissioners Coffman,

¹⁵ Tr. 97: 9-20 AR 757; See also, UX-20 (Coffman to Hayward, 9/6/16: "Thank you guys for all of your help...") AR 518.

18 EX-16 AR 640; Tr. 106:22 (Coffman) AR 766.

¹⁴ EX-3 AR 560.

¹⁶ EX-14 (Kuhn email to County Clerk Marci Patterson, cc Coffman, 12/27/16) AR 636. The Union had filed a ULP regarding the County's resolution, which was pending at the time.

¹⁷ EX-17 (Mark Smith, 'Cordial' Discussions Open County's First Collective Bargaining in Public, Davenport Times, January 19, 2017) AR642.

Hutsell and Steadman, Sheriff Wade Magers and Undersheriff Kelly Watkins.¹⁹ The Union's bargaining team consisted of Joe Kuhn, road deputies Gabe Gants and Mike Stauffer (both commissioned unit shop stewards) and corrections deputies Brad Sweet and Tom Sherbon (both non-commissioned shop stewards).²⁰ The Commissioners stationed themselves behind an elevated dais in stuffed chairs, while Kuhn was consigned to a wire chair at a table on the floor below, with his bargaining team behind him in the gallery.²¹ Also present was a member of the public, a reporter from the *Davenport Times* newspaper.

The first thing Kuhn told the Commissioners was that, although the Union was willing to negotiate, it reserved its position that it disagreed with the County's demand to bargain in public and that the Union was not "giving up [its] ability to challenge the resolution." Kuhn stated that the Union was nonetheless willing to "proceed forward with negotiations in good faith." The County recognized Kuhn's reservation and the parties proceeded to bargain. 24

 ¹⁹ Tr. 163;20-25 (Kuhn) AR 823; 164:1-25 (Kuhn) AR 824; Tr. 165: 1-3 (Kuhn) AR 825.
 ²⁰ Tr. 164; 7-11 (Kuhn) AR 824.

²¹ Tr. 164: 13-16 (Kuhn) AR 824; EX-17 (Mark Smith, 'Cordial' Discussions Open County's First Collective Bargaining in Public, Davenport Times, January 19, 2017, at ¶20) AR642:

^{¶20)} ÅR642; ²² Tr. 164:22-25 (Kuhn) AR 824; Tr. 165: 1-3 (Kuhn) AR 825; Tr.106: 10-14 (Coffman acknowledging Kuhn's reservation) AR 766.

²³ Tr. 106:10-25 AR 766; 107: 1-4 (Coffman acknowledging Kuhn's reservation) AR 767; EX-17 (newspaper article) AR 642.

Kuhn then shared the Union's initial proposal for the non-commissioned bargaining unit, which included items carried forward from the Guild contract, together with new items developed during an employees-only demands meeting. In addition to economic proposals, the Union proposed new language regarding performance evaluations, light duty accommodations, and safety standards that would obligate the Employer to comply with accepted safety practices established by the Washington State Department of Labor and Industries' Safety and Health Program. Kuhn, himself a former corrections officer with eleven years' experience as a lead negotiator for corrections officers at the Washington State Department of Corrections, included the safety proposal at the request of non-commissioned employees following reports of jail overcrowding and a recent incident in which an inmate escaped as a direct result of the County's failure to comply with its own policies.

Despite Resolution 16-22, the County demands to bargain in private.

When Kuhn sought to explain the Union's safety proposal to the Commissioners, he was abruptly cut off by Sheriff Magers, who indicated that he would rather discuss the safety and performance evaluation issues

²⁵ Tr. 168: 1-4 (Kuhn) AR 828.

²⁶ Tr. 167: 1-13 (Kuhn) AR 827.

²⁷ UX-7 (Teamsters' mark-up) AR 471; Tr. 168: 24-25 (Kuhn) AR 828; Tr. 169:1-25 (Kuhn) AR 829.

²⁸ Tr. 169: 13-21 (Kuhn) AR 829; Tr. 170: 10-17 (Kuhn) AR 830.

"away from the bargaining table."²⁹ Kuhn acquiesced to Sheriff Magers's request and, upon conclusion of the meeting, he, Magers and Undersheriff Watkins met privately to bargain the Union's safety, performance evaluation and light duty proposals.³⁰ Kuhn testified that, like the Sheriff, he actually preferred to discuss these proposals privately because the basis for each of them implicated specific bargaining unit employees, who would not want their names, medical information, or performance evaluations to be publicly disclosed. Similarly, the details regarding jail overcrowding and the escape of a jail inmate as a result of the County's negligence were likely to cause community controversy if they appeared on the front page of the newspaper.³¹

Bargaining Breaks Down

On February 27, 2017, Local 690 and the County met in the Commissioner's room to bargain.³² In particular, wages and benefits remained outstanding for both bargaining units.³³ In anticipation of the

²⁹ Tr. 171: 14-24 (Kuhn) AR 831; Tr. 62: 8-22 (Coffman acknowledging Kuhn's proposal) AR 722; EX-17 (newspaper article, "A provision desired by the union to conduct employee evaluations in accordance with an existing sheriff's department policy prompted a request from Sheriff Wade Magers to have a separate, private conversation with Kuhn that Magers suggested the concern behind the request "could be resolved through the policy rather than including this in the contract.") AR 642.

³⁰ Tr. 171:14-25 AR 831; Tr. 172:1-19 AR 832; Tr. 174: 15-23 (Kuhn) AR 834.

³¹ Tr. 173:7-25 AR 833; 174:1-25 AR 834; Tr. 175:1-17 (Kuhn) AR 835.

³² UX-18 (Kuhn's bargaining notes) 514; EX-18 (Mark Smith, *Contract Talks Stall When Union Reps Fail to Persuade Commissioners to Bar Public*, Davenport Times, March 2, 2017) AR 644.

³³ Tr. 67:8-18 (Coffman) AR 727; Tr. 72:1-9 (Coffman) AR 732.

February 27 bargaining session, Kuhn had emailed the County marked-up

counterproposals on February 10, 2017.³⁴ Also in the interim the Union

Executive Board passed its own resolution, requiring that all bargaining

occur in private.

The contents of the February 27th meeting are not materially

disputed. Both parties repeatedly expressed a willingness to bargain

mandatory terms, but each also stuck to its previously-stated position on

the public/private disagreement. The Commissioners stated that they

would bargain only in public, while the Union said it would bargain only

in compliance with the parties' successful practice of bargaining privately.

When neither would relent, bargaining ended.

Both parties filed PERC unfair labor practice complaints against

the other.

Salient Elements of Decisions Below

PERC Hearing Examiner

Examiner Siegel found both parties committed unfair labor

practices when they conditioned bargaining of mandatory subjects on the

other side's capitulation on a permissive subject. See, Decision No.

12844, p. 14-15, App. p. 52-54. However, while she ordered that the

parties cease and desist, she neither ordered them to bargain the

³⁴ EX-16 (Kuhn cover email, 2/10/17); EX-20 (Union markup non-comm.) AR 640; EX-

21 (Union markup comm.) AR 650.

LOCAL 690's PETITION FOR REVIEW

COA No. 37054-2-III

11

public/private issue nor announced whose position would prevail in the event they bargained but could not agree. *See*, *Id*. This omission left both parties in an uncertain legal position.

PERC Commissioners

On appeal, the Commissioners affirmed findings of ULPs by both parties. They found that bargaining ground rules, including whether negotiations were to occur in private or public, were permissive subjects of bargaining which neither side had a duty to bargain. Both parties broke the law, however, when they refused to bargain mandatory terms unless the other side capitulated on this issue.

However, the Commissioners took an important additional step. They noted with apparent approval the Union's contention that the Hearing Examiner's decision "begs the question, 'What do we do now?" See, PERC Decision No. 12844-A, p. 9, App. p. 32. The Commissioners answered that question by ordering that the parties bargain and mediate the public/private issue and, failing agreement, bargain in private:

We order the parties to negotiate in good faith over the method by which the parties will conduct their negotiations....

If after two good-faith negotiation sessions the parties are unable to reach an agreement on how to conduct their negotiations, the Commission will appoint a mediator to assist the parties. If after engaging in good-faith negotiations and mediation the parties cannot reach

agreement, to best effectuate the purposes of Chapter 41.56 RCW, ...the parties will negotiate from the status quo – that is, private meetings.

See, PERC Decision No. 12944-A, p. 10, App. p. 33 (emphases added).

Superior Court

On appeal Whitman County Superior Court affirmed PERC in all respects.

Court of Appeals, Division III

The Court of Appeals affirmed PERC's holding that both sides had committed unfair labor practices and its finding that bargaining ground rules, including the public/private issue, are nonmandatory subjects of bargaining. However, it overturned the Commissioners' remedy and remanded to the Commission to reconsider. The Court failed to note or discuss that its remand returned the Commissioners and the parties to the very same logical trap to which the Hearing Examiner had consigned them and from which the Commissioners had labored to release them. What happens if the parties fail to agree? Which side gets their way? In addition, Judge Korsmo lodged a concurring opinion in which he called the County's (i.e., the Freedom Foundation's) resolution "one of the most cynical political documents drafted in modern times." *See*, Court of Appeals Decision (concurring opinion), p. 1, App. p. 19.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS IS A CASE OF FIRST IMPRESSION WHICH RAISES ISSUES CRITICAL TO THE HEALTH AND SUCCESS OF PUBLIC SECTOR COLLECTIVE BARGAINING.

This case is about whether collective bargaining negotiations should be in public or private and how disagreements with respect to that issue should be resolved. PERC had never addressed the issue until this case, and the Washington Supreme Court has never done so. The need for authoritative guidance has recently become urgent, as a result of a statewide campaign by the vociferously anti-union Freedom Foundation to force bargaining parties to abandon their long, successful and legally-preferred tradition of bargaining privately.

A. This Case Presents Issues of "Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court." 35

Logically, of course, bargaining parties cannot proceed to bargain substantive terms and conditions of employment until they reach a mutual understanding, tacit or explicit, with respect to the ground rules for bargaining, including whether it should occur in public or private (or some combination of the two). Thus, in this very case, because the parties have been unable to resolve their dispute regarding the public/private issue,

³⁵ RAP 13.4(b).

bargaining of substantive terms and conditions of employment at Lincoln County has been at a complete standstill for nearly four years.

The problem is exploding statewide. As detailed in the "Statement of the Case" above, the resolution requiring compliance with the OPMA was foisted upon Lincoln County by the so-called Freedom Foundation, an organization that exists to "expose, defund, and discredit" labor unions. See, Service Employees International Union 925 v. Freedom Foundation, 197 Wash. App. 203, 209 (2016). As the Foundation accurately pointed out in its briefing below, it has succeeded in marketing an identical publicbargaining resolution to several small jurisdictions and, more recently, Spokane County.36

The Court of Appeals's Decision Leaves Hundreds of Negotiating Parties Throughout the State in Legal Limbo.

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