FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/4/2021 4:13 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 992801

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

TEAMSTERS LOCAL 690, Petitioner,

v.

LINCOLN COUNTY, et. al. Respondents.

LINCOLN COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION TERMINIATING REVIEW OF AN ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION, AND CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

Caleb Jon F. Vandenbos, WSBA #50231 P.O. Box 552, Olympia, WA 98507 p. 360.956.3482 | f. 360.352.1874 CVandenbos@freedomfoundation.com

Attorney for Lincoln County

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

VII. ARGUMENT

This Court should grant review of the decision below. It was the union that committed an ULP when it refused to bargain mandatory subjects of bargaining with the County. Moreover, this Court should accept review to clarify that, in the absence of agreement, opening or closing collective bargaining sessions to public observation is a managerial prerogative for elected officials acting as representatives of their citizens. This is consistent with the PECBA, and puts the open government policy decision in the hands of those it should be in: those responsible to the public.

On the other hand, this Court should not grant review to decide whether bargaining always is better when conducted in secret, or to alter PECBA law. The PECBA "expressly refrains from mandating any result or procedure for achieving final resolution of an intractable bargaining dispute," *Pasco Police Officers' Ass'n*, 132 Wn.2d at 460 (1997) (internal citations, quotations omitted), and the decision below is a straightforward application of PECBA principles: a finding that the parties may not refuse to bargain mandatory subjects over disagreement on permissive ones.

A. This Court Should Refrain from Legislating Over Whether Open or Closed Meetings are 'Healthier' for Collective Bargaining

Local 690 asks this Court to grant review because this case involves a matter of significant public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4); Petitioner's Brief at 14. Implicitly, it asks this Court to grant review on the merits of the public policy debate over open meetings. This Court should reject that invitation.

Local 690 correctly identifies that PERC has given no guidance on whether meetings are to be opened or closed. *See* Petitioner's Brief at 14-15. However, the reason for this is that, under the PECBA, the parties need not bargain over permissive subjects of bargaining so long as no bad faith is involved. *See* sec. B, *infra*. The parties agree that opening meetings is a permissive subject of bargaining, and the union has been unable to show bad faith. Division III's decision, holding that the parties have no duty to bargain over this issue, is unsurprising.

What *is* surprising is that the union is asking this Court to weigh in on the substantive merits of the open versusclosed bargaining debate. Local 690 asks this Court to accept review because, it implies, open meetings threaten the 'health' of collective bargaining. According to the union, "authoritative guidance" is necessary because advocacy by the Freedom Foundation has created a "problem" whereby openness is "exploding statewide." Petition at 14-15. While the Freedom Foundation is flattered that Local 690 believes its advocacy for open government is effective, the conclusion from the growing trend is simply that elected representatives, and by extension their voters, believe open government is a good policy. Local 690 may think that openness in government decision making is a problem, but, as every tribunal below has agreed, that does not mean it is a forbidden policy choice under the PECBA or the OPMA.

Whether open meetings are 'healthy' to collective bargaining is a policy decision and this Court should refrain from accepting review to decide that policy issue. Even PERC, the tribunal most appropriate to first weigh in on this issue, has denied doing so in this case and the original ULP filed by the union seeking to invalidate the Resolution. This Court should not grant review to weigh in on the policy debate over open meetings.

B. Division III's Decision is a Straightforward Application of Settled PECBA Law—There is no Conflict nor Internal Inconsistency

Local 690 argues that Division III's decision implicitly contradicts existing case-law, RAP 13.4(b)(1), and is internally inconsistent. By Local

690's reading, Division III found the union committed a ULP by refusing to bargain over the permissive subject of open meetings.⁸ Petition at 16-18.

That is not the correct reading of Division III's decision. It is true that Division III censured the parties for their insistence on their positions:

Neither party offered to bargain the disputed procedure in good faith. Rather, each insisted that their procedure be used.

Decision at 16. This was not, however, the reason the Court upheld the ULPs. Division III upheld the ULPs because, according to it, the parties refused to bargain mandatory subjects without justification:⁹

This insistence <u>held collective bargaining hostage</u> and resulted in an impasse over a permissive subject.

Id. In other words, Division III concluded the parties committed ULPs because they refused to bargain mandatory subjects over disagreement on permissive subjects. This is a straightforward application of the rule that "bargain[ing] to impasse over a nonmandatory subject" is an ULP. *Klauder v. San Juan Cty. Deputy Sheriffs' Guild*, 107 Wash. 2d 338, 342, 728 P.2d 1044, 1047 (1986) (internal citations omitted).

The union's argument regarding internal inconsistency¹⁰ suffers from the same misreading. Local 690 argues that the decision is internally

⁸ Local 690's argument appears to be directed towards the PERC decision, however, with the supposed contradiction in Division III's opinion only implied. Petition at 17, fn. 37. ⁹The County objects to the characterization that it held collective bargaining hostage. It did not refuse to bargain on Feb. 27, 2019. It is true that the County would not alter its Transparency Resolution in response to the union's demands, but this is something it was not required to do, and the union had no right to insist upon it doing so. The County was justified to decline to alter its position on open meetings, under its managerial prerogative. *See* Sec. C, *infra*. It was only the union that committed a ULP by refusing to bargain. ¹⁰ Internal inconsistency is not a consideration for review under RAP 13.4(b), and this Court should reject this grounds for review on this basis alone.

contradictory because, according to it, it condemns the union's unwillingness to bargain a permissive subject while simultaneously affirming that it has no such duty to bargain. Petition at 18-19. Again, there is no contradiction: the fact that Division III frowns upon the union's unwillingness to bargain a permissive subject does not mean that that is why Division III issued the ULP. Division III affirmed the ULP against the union because it refused to bargain *mandatory* subjects of bargaining—wages, hours, working conditions. Decision at 16.

C. To Provide a Path Forward, This Court Should Establish That Opening the Bargaining Process to Public View is an Elected Employer's Prerogative

Despite the above shortcomings in Local 690's petition, Local 690 is correct to request clarity on how the parties should proceed. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)—not to weigh in on the substantive merits of the open government policy debate, but to clarify with whom this policy decision lies. This Court should rule that elected public employers enjoy a prerogative to open their meetings to the public under the PECBA. This will give clarity to the parties and other jurisdictions around the State, and will promote transparency in Washington State.

1. The PECBA's prerogative doctrine

The doctrine of employer prerogatives¹¹ stems from the PECBA's limited scope. The duty to bargain extends only to "wages, hours and

¹¹ Unions enjoy prerogatives, too. For example, they have the prerogative to engage in socalled "coordinated bargaining," whereby the representatives of separate bargaining units participate in the negotiations of other units for the purpose of assisting one another. *Gen. Elec. Co. v. NLRB.*, 412 F.2d 512 (2d Cir. 1969). This right, in turn, stems from the rights of *both* parties to determine their own representatives. *See Missouri Portland Cement Co.*,

working conditions," and the scope of mandatory bargaining "thus is limited to matters of direct concern" to the employees of the bargaining unit. *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 v. Pub. Employment Relations Comm'n*, 113 Wn.2d 197, 200, 778 P.2d 32, 34 (1989) (citations omitted). "Managerial decisions that only remotely affect 'personnel matters', and decisions that are predominantly 'managerial prerogatives', are classified as nonmandatory, or permissive, subjects." *Id.*; *City of Seattle*, Decision 11588-A (PECB, 2013).

The United States Supreme Court developed the doctrine of prerogatives in the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA") context. In passing the NLRA, Congress had "no expectation" that unions would become "equal partner[s] in the running of the business...." *First Nat. Maint. Corp. v. NLRB*, 452 U.S. 666, 676 (1981). There is an "undeniable limit to the subjects about which bargaining must take place," which includes "only issues that settle an aspect of the relationship between the employer and the employees." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). Decisions with only an "indirect and attenuated impact on the employment relationship," are not subjects about which management must bargain, since they relate to matters "wholly apart from the employment relationship." *Id.*

PERC recognizes "that public sector employers are not 'entrepreneurs' in the same sense as private sector employers." *Central*

²⁸⁴ NLRB 432, 434 fn.13 (1987). Likewise, unions may unilaterally determine how its proposals are developed or the ratification process. *See Lewis County*, Decision 464 (PECB, 1978), *aff'd Lewis County*, Decision 464-A (PECB, 1978).

Washington University, Decision 12305-A (PSRA, 2016).¹² For this reason, in the public sector "entrepreneurial control should consider the right of the public sector employer, *as an elected representative of the people*, to control management and direction of government." *Id.* (italics added)

A public employer enjoys prerogative to determine its budget, for example, *Spokane Education Association v. Barnes*, 83 Wn.2d 366, 376 (1974); *see also Kitsap Cty. v. Kitsap Cty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc.*, 193 Wn. App. 40, 53 (2016). Jurisdictions enjoy prerogatives to pass measures of a moral and value-laden character as well, such as measures combating racial profiling. *Claremont Police Officers Ass'n v. City of Claremont*, 39 Cal. 4th 623, 639, 139 P.3d 532, 542 (2006); *see also Local 346, Int'l Bhd. of Police Officers v. Labor Relations Comm'n*, 391 Mass. 429, 430, 462 N.E.2d 96, 97 (1984) (prerogative subject officers to polygraphs).

2. Opening meetings to the public is a core way that elected officials manage and direct government

PERC employs a balancing test to determine whether a subject is an employer prerogative, balancing (1) the extent to which the action impacts wages, hours, or working conditions, compared to (2) the extent to which the subject lies "at the core of entrepreneurial control," or is a management prerogative. *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters*, 113 Wn.2d at 203. The decision focuses on which characteristic predominates. *Id.* As to the first consideration, the unionagreeds that public meetings have no impact on

¹² https://decisions.perc.wa.gov/waperc/decisions/en/item/171385/index.do

wages, hours, or working conditions. Thus the first factor weighs unequivocally in favor of finding that it is an employer prerogative.

As to the second consideration: opening meetings to public observation also weighs heavily in favor of being a decision that is at the core of managerial control for *elected* public officials. It takes only a moment's reflection, or a review of these facts, to make this apparent.

Elected officials' job description is to safeguard and employ public money in a responsible manner, *consistent with the community's goals and values. See* RCW 42.30.010 ("The legislature finds and declares that all public commissions, boards, councils... *exist to aid in the conduct of the people's business.*") (italics added). In an ideal world there would be perfect synchronicity between the will of the community and the actions of the representatives: elected officials would always know and abide by community goals regarding resources, and the community would always know the elected official was acting consistently with its wishes.

In the real world, elected officials must create avenues and channels for this communication to take place, for trust to develop, and for such synchronicity to emerge. One powerful way, recognized as the general policy of Washington State is to open meetings to the public. *See* RCW 42.30.010 (the OPMA: "It is the intent of this chapter that [public commissions'] actions be taken openly and that their *deliberations* be conducted openly.")(emphasis added). In other words, opening decision making processes to the public is a method of promoting communication, trust, and synchronicity between the voters and the elected officials—which is the elected official's job. Improving this synchronicity is an essential function of elected representation because it improves the official's understanding of citizens' wishes, and citizens' understanding too.

The facts of this case put the above theory into practice. Here, the Commissioners passed a Transparency Resolution to promote that trust and support a tax increase. They deliberately increased opportunities for the public to observe their deliberations to develop unchallengeable trust. This is core business for elected officials, and this Court should conclude the same.

PERC erred when it failed to acknowledge that an elected employer enjoys a prerogative to open meetings to public observation. Instead, PERC characterized the decision as a mere "ground rule," where neither party has any prerogative. *See* Appendix at 31 ("We see no reason to treat the question of whether negotiations should be held in open public meetings differently than other procedures for how bargaining will be conducted.").

Division III likewise failed to grapple with the issue. It concluded in one line that opening meetings was not a prerogative. Referring to the OPMA's exemption of collective bargaining from the OPMA's mandate, RCW 42.30.140(4)(a), it stated:

If public bargaining was at the core of entrepreneurial control, the legislature—itself a public entity—would not have exempted collective bargaining from open meetings.

Decision at 14. With due respect to Division III, this statement borderlines the nonsensical. If the State exempted bargaining sessions from the OPMA's mandate, it does not follow that the matter is not at the core of an elected official's control. The fact that the State *removed* bargaining sessions from the OPMA's mandate *reinforces* the argument that elected officials enjoy discretion. *See* Decision at 12. Removing collective bargaining from the OPMA's open meeting *mandate* gives local jurisdictions flexibility. Division III erred when it concluded otherwise.

Elected officials relate to their constituency by opening up the government decision making process. This is how they act in the citizen's interests. This Court should recognize that this decision is a core "right of the public sector employer, *as an elected representative of the people*, to control management... of government.".¹³

VIII. CONCLUSION

This Court should review PERC's decision below to establish that local jurisdictions have discretion, under the PECBA, to open their deliberative process with unions to public view, as an employer prerogative.